IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE STATE OF FLORIDA, and the Taxpayers,  
Property Owners and Citizens of Orange  
County, Florida, including nonresidents  
owning property or subject to taxation  
therein, and all others having or claiming  
any right, title or interest in property  
to be affected by the issuance of the  
bonds hereinafter more particularly  
described or to be affected in any way  
thereby,

Defendant/Appellant,

vs

FLORIDA SCHOOL BOARDS ASSOCIATION, Inc.,  
a Florida not-for-profit corporation,  
acting on behalf of the School District  
of Orange County, Florida,

Plaintiff/Appellee.

Appeal Case # 75,154

FILED  
DEC 28 2005  
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(1)(B)(i) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure from a final Order issued pursuant to Chapter 75, Florida Statutes, validating bonds.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a Final Judgment of the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit in and for Orange County validating not to exceed \$230,000,000 Florida School Boards Association, Inc., ("The Association) Lease Revenue Bonds.

The Association, acting on behalf of the School District of Orange County, Florida ("The Board") filed a Complaint pursuant to Chapter 75, Florida Statutes, seeking validation of not to exceed \$230,000,000 Lease Revenue Bonds. The Association served an Order to Show Cause on the State of Florida requiring the State of Florida, through the State Attorney of the Ninth Judicial Circuit, to show cause why the prayer of said Complaint should not be granted and the bonds validated. Pursuant to Chapter 75, Lawson Lamar, State Attorney, answered the Order to Show Cause and appeared at the trial raising the issue as to whether Validation should be granted since the Association and/or the Board failed to obtain referendum approval. The Complaint was heard by Judge W. Rogers Turner, Circuit Court Judge of the Ninth Judicial Circuit in and for Orange County on November 7, 1989. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Turner validated the bonds and held that an election was not required. (App.1) The State filed a timely Notice of Appeal on December 6, 1989.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On September 26, 1989, the Orange County School Board ("The Board") adopted a resolution authorizing the Board to enter into a Lease-Purchase Agreement with the Florida School Boards Association, Inc., ("The Association"). (App. 2) The Lease-Purchase Agreement contemplates that the Association issue up to \$230 million tax exempt bonds.

The proceeds from these bonds will be used by the Association to finance educational facilities. The educational facilities will include new schools to be built on land already owned by the Board, new schools to be built on land which will be purchased, and improvements and additions to existing educational facilities. In total, the project includes construction of 14 new schools and improvements to approximately fifty existing facilities. (App. 3, 29-30)

To accomplish this, the Board will lease to the Association for a nominal sum the property or educational facilities on which the new school or improvements are to be made through a "Ground Lease". (App. 4) The Association in turn will enter into another "Lease" whereby the Board will lease from the Association the new school, educational facility or improvement for actual use. (App. 5) The "Lease" will be for an initial term of one year ending on June 30, 1990 with fifteen successive annual renewal terms of one year. (App 1, 4) Upon payment of all amounts due under the "Lease" and upon payment of the bonds, title to the educational facilities will then vest with the Board. (App. 3, 45-46)

The debt service on the Bonds will be secured by the rent payments

made by the Board to the Association under the Lease. (App. 6) At the the end of each annual renewable lease term, the Board may decide not to appropriate the rent which would come due that next year under the Lease. If the Board decides not to appropriate monies for the rent, or if it cannot do so, the Lease-Purchase Agreement will terminate. The documents provide that the Association cannot compel the Board to appropriate funds for the Lease.

In the event of nonappropriation by the Board or a default on the bonds, the Association may take possession of the new school and the improved educational facilities and may either relet or sell its leasehold interest to generate sufficient revenues to pay off the bonds. (App. 3, 42)

The Association or its assignee will have exclusive use of the property until the bonds are paid. It is important to note that if the Board elects not to renew the lease, it must do so for the entire lease package and cannot select to fund just one or several of the schools or projects. (App. 3,17)

The Association is a not-for-profit corporation created pursuant to Chapter 617, Florida Statutes. The Association's bylaws adopted on July 25, 1989, state that the Association's purpose is in part to provide leadership on issues of public education by performing such acts as necessary to facilitate financing of schools and school boards throughout the state. (App. 7)

Although the issuer of the bonds, the Association will serve merely as a conduit of funds and will transfer all of its rights and obligations



to Sun Bank, N.A., a trustee pursuant to a trust agreement. (App. 8)  
The Board will contract for and provide for the construction and improvements of the education facilities. (App. 3,48)

The rent due under the Lease agreement is payable by the Board from its Capital Improvement fund and from any other legally available funds which include the Public Education Capital Outlay and Debt Service Trust Fund (PECO), Capital Outlay and Debt Service monies, and up to one-half of the revenues received by the Board from a levy of not exceeding 2.0 mills on all real property in Orange county pursuant to Section 236.25(2)(e), Florida Statutes, which millage is known as the "capital outlay" millage. Although the other sources of revenues for the rent payments are purportedly from non ad valorem sources, funds derived from capital outlay are clearly revenues from ad valorem taxation.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Lease Revenue bond proposal before this Court should not be validated without an approving referendum by the voters of Orange County. Article VII, Section 12, Florida Constitution requires that bonds which are payable from ad valorem taxes and mature more than twelve months after issuance must be approved by the electors. In this case, the bonds are clearly payable from ad valorem tax revenues. The rent payments due by the Board to the Association under the Lease are derived from the capital outlay millage as defined in Florida Statutes, 236.25(2)(e). Since the rent proceeds will be used as security for repayment of the bonds debt service there is no doubt that this transaction involves a pledge of ad valorem taxes.

The Board's commitment to the Lease-Purchase transaction exceeds twelve months. Although the Board claims it's obligation is limited to a one-year lease with annual renewal options, the Board's commitment realistically far exceeds one year and involves a pledge of the Board's credit. In the event of a population decline or change in circumstance, the lease will not allow the Board to choose to fund only a few of the schools or educational facilities. The lease must be funded in its entirety and cannot be subdivided. The Board must choose to appropriate or not to appropriate each year for the entire lease package. Thus, the Board's assertion the lease only involves a one year commitment is unrealistic. The Board owns most of the property on which the schools and improvements will be constructed and the Board cannot risk the loss of the use of those

schools and improvements during the term of the bonds. The Board will be entering into contracts for construction of the schools and for improvements. The Board cannot on one hand obligate to pay for the facilities while on the other hand say that it can decide without obligation not to appropriate the funds for the annual lease payment.

Although the Board could enter into a lease purchase agreement, Sections 230.23(9)(b)(5) and 235.056(3), Florida Statutes codify the Florida Constitution by requiring an election to be held if rents under the lease are payable from ad valorem taxes and the agreement is for greater than twelve months. Since the lease purchase revenue bonds in this case involve a pledge of ad valorem taxes and a commitment far exceeding the twelve month limitation as stated in both the Florida Statutes and Florida Constitution, validation should not be granted without an approving referendum.

## ARGUMENT

The sole issue before this Court is whether an election must be held approving the issuance of the bonds before validation may be granted. In order to resolve this issue, the Court must look to the history and judicial interpretation of article VII, section 12, Florida Constitution and review the mechanics of the entire Lease-Purchase Revenue Bond transaction.

Article VII, section 12 of the Florida Constitution states in pertinent part:

Counties, School districts, municipalities, special districts and local governmental bodies with taxing powers may issue bonds, certificate of indebtedness or any form of tax anticipation certificates, payable from ad valorem taxation and maturing more than twelve months after issuance only: (a) to finance or refinance capital projects authorized by law and only when approved by vote of the electors. ..

The Constitutional requirement of an election when taxes are pledged as security for indebtedness was not always contained in the Florida Constitution. In fact, prior to 1930, the Florida Constitution had no limitation on the power of local governments to incur debt. The 1868 and 1885 Florida Constitutions only limited the States power to incur debt. See article XII, section 7, Florida Constitution of 1868 and Article IX, Section 6, Florida Constitution of 1885.

In 1930, the Constitution was amended to read:

...the counties, districts or municipalities of the State of Florida shall have power to issue bonds only after the same shall have been approved by a majority of the votes cast in an election...

Article IX, Section 6, Florida Constitution of 1885 as Amended by Senate Joint Resolution 26, Acts 1929, adopted at general election of Representatives held November 4, 1930. The Amendment was enacted partly in response to "widespread bond defaults among local governments in Florida during the late 1920's and early 1930's". State v. City of Panama City Beach, 529 So. 2d 250 (Fla. 1988). The Referendum Requirement: A Constitutional Limitation on Local Government Debt in Florida 38 U. Miami L. REV 677 (1984) citing, A. Hillhouse, Municipal Bonds 24-27, 83-87 (1936). The Amendment's purpose was to lay a restraint "on the spendthrift tendencies of political subdivisions to load the future with obligations to pay for things the present desires, but cannot justly pay for as they go, thereby necessitating the involvement of the public credit in some form of funding or borrowing operation by which money can be realized on credit beyond the present means of payment so as to become available for disbursement in paying for considerations received in the present to be discharged out of public revenues anticipated to be realized or raised in the future." Leon County v. State, 165 So. 666, 669 (Fla. 1936); ~~See~~ Boykin v. Town of River Junction, 164 So. 558 (Fla. 1935); ~~See also~~, City of Jacksonville v. Savannah Machine and Foundry Co., 47 So.2d 634 (Fla. 1950).

Eventually, a distinction between indebtedness payable from the ad valorem taxing power and indebtedness secured by non ad valorem taxes was developed by the Courts. This Court held in Medley v. State, 162 So. 2d 257 (Fla. 1964), that the constitutional provision was never intended to require voter approval for the pledge of non-ad valorem

revenue previously used for operating expenses. The Supreme Court has consistently upheld this interpretation and ruled that an election is only required when bonds directly obligate the ad valorem taxing power. State v. Tampa Sports Authority, 188 So. 2d 795, 797 (Fla. 1966); Rianhard v. Port of Palm Beach District, 186 So. 2d 503, 506 (Fla. 1966). The 1968 Revision of the Florida Constitution reflected this distinction by specifying in Article VII, Section 12 that bonds payable from ad valorem taxation are subject to voter approval. See The Referendum Requirement at 689-692. This distinction is also reflected in Sections 230.23,(a)(b) and 235.056(3) Florida Statutes, which the Board cites as authority for entering into this transaction. Section 230.23(9)(b)(5) Florida Statutes, however, codifies the Florida Constitution by requiring an election to be held if rents are payable from ad valorem taxes and the agreement is for greater than twelve months.

Thus, the question in the instant case becomes whether the bonds are payable from ad valorem taxes. Clearly a portion of the revenues the Board will pay as rent to the Association come directly from the capital outlay millage. Section 236.35(2)(e), Florida Statutes. The ad valorem taxes will be used as rent revenues and will be pledged as security for the Association's obligations under the bonds.

Essentially, the Board is attempting to do indirectly what it would not be able to do directly under the Florida Constitution. In County of Volusia v. State, 417 So. 2d 1968 (Fla. 1982) this Court rejected a bond proposal which on one hand pledged as security for the bonds all legally available non-ad valorem revenues while on the other, covenanted to do all things necessary to continue receiving those

revenues. The Court held that a pledge of all available revenues, together with a promise to maintain the programs which would lead to receipt of the revenues, would have a substantial impact on the future exercise of ad valorem taxing power. Id. Ruling "that which may not be done directly may not be done indirectly," the Court denied validation of the bonds. Id.

If the Board were to issue the bonds directly, the Board would be required to obtain referendum approval. By structuring this transaction so that another entity actually issues the bonds, the Board is attempting to circumvent the election requirement. The Association's authority to issue tax exempt bonds is directly linked to the fact that the Association is acting on behalf of the Board. See Rev. Rul. 63-20, 1963-1 C.B. 24 (The obligations of a non-profit corporation will be considered issued on behalf of a governmental unit preserving their tax exempt status, if the corporation engages in activities which are essentially public in nature). ~~See also~~ Rev. Proc. 82-150, 1982. The Complaint for Validation and the style of the case itself make clear that the Association is acting on behalf of the Board, lending further support to the argument that the Board is attempting to do indirectly what they certainly would not be allowed to do directly. Also, by subdividing the Board's obligation to pay rent into one year renewable lease terms, the Board cannot escape the fact that its rent payments serve as security for the bonds and are derived directly from ad valorem revenues.

In addition, the rent due under the lease agreement is payable from other legally available funds. Since a great percentage of the

Board's funds are derived directly from ad valorem taxes and the Board states it will make rent payments under the lease from up to one half of the capital outlay millage assessment, there is no question that the proposal of these Lease Revenue Bonds will have, at a minimum, an indirect impact on the Board's ad valorem tax levy.

The Association intends to mortgage its leasehold interest in the educational facilities as security for the bonds (App. 6) The Florida Supreme Court has indicated in Nohrr v. Brevard County Educational Facilities Authority, 247 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 1971) and its progeny that an election is required to approve bonds secured by a mortgage on physical property when the taxing power is directly or indirectly pledged. See Wilson v. Palm Beach County Holding Authority, 503 So. 2d 893 (Fla. 1987). The Court in Wilson stressed that even if the issuer of the bonds did not have taxing power, the issuer's relationship with the County or the legislature could be such that those entities would feel morally compelled to levy taxes or to appropriate funds to prevent the loss of those properties. Id. at 894. In Nohrr, the Court indicated that this argument would be even more persuasive if the bonds were to finance projects connected with public schools since there would be at least a moral compulsion to levy taxes or to appropriate funds to prevent the loss of the properties. Nohrr at 311.

This rationale should also apply to the leasehold mortgage in this case. If the Board defaults or decides not to fund the payments due under the lease, the Association or the Trustee could foreclose on the leasehold interest and either sell or relet the premises until the bonds have been paid. Since the Board already owns the land on



which many of the new schools will be built and, of course, owns the educational facilities which will be improved, the Board will have a strong moral obligation, if not a legal obligation, to fund the leases or risk the loss of the use of schools the Board desperately needs for a term of years.

Furthermore, the one year lease which is renewable on an annual basis, involves an obligation exceeding the one year limitation in both Section 230.23(a)(b), Florida Statutes and article VII, section 12, Florida Constitution. The Board cannot realistically elect not to renew the lease every year. The lease will not allow the Board to choose to fund only one or several of the educational facilities to be constructed with the bond proceeds and covered under the lease. The lease must be funded in its entirety and cannot be subdivided. Thus, even if there is a change in circumstances or population shift which may obviate the need for one or some of the educational facilities, the Board still must appropriate for the entire lease package or decide not to fund it in its entirety.

Finally, the Lease Purchase Bond Transaction appears to have been carefully tailored to comply with the Courts ruling in State v. Brevard County, 539 So. 2d 461 (Fla. 1989) In Brevard County, the County created a not-for-profit corporation to purchase certain equipment for lease to the County. The County's obligation to make payments under a one year lease with annual renewal options was secured solely by non-ad valorem revenues. The Court held that the proposal did not violate article VII, section of the Florida Constitution and was not an impermissible mortgage with a right of foreclosure. The Court held

that the County is simply renting equipment under the lease and could return to the lessor any leased equipment still owned by the lessor in the event of a default or non appropriation. Id at 464.

The Association and the Board's bond proposal before this Court fails for exactly the reasons delineated in Brevard. In Brevard County, the lease payments were payable only from non-ad valorem sources. The bonds in this case are secured by lease rental payments directly derived from ad valorem taxes. Secondly, in Brevard County the lease involved equipment. The lease in the case involves 14 new schools and additions and improvements to numerous other educational facilities. **It** goes without saying that there is a great difference in the rental of equipment which can be returned to the lessor **if** the lease is terminated and in the lease of schools and buildings. **If** there is a default or a failure to appropriate in this case, the Board, which already owns the schools and lands, could lose the use of those facilities during the term of the bonds.

Because of the public nature of the buildings and the need for their use, the suggestion that the Board can choose not to fund the leases after each year term is illusory. Furthermore, the Board will be contracting with builders and contractors to actually construct the new schools or improvements with the bond proceeds issued by the Association. Once the School Board makes a commitment to pay for these projects, the Board cannot then at the same time realistically decide to not fund the leases. This potentially could lead to contract disputes and lawsuits with construction companies and damage to the Board's credit rating.