IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Article VII, Section 12.

The sole issue raised by the State Attorney in and for the Ninth Judicial Circuit in appeal of the Final Judgment of the Trial Court validating the up to \$230,000,000 tax exempt lease revenue bonds is whether voter referendum is required by Article VII, Section 12, Florida Constitution, because of the Orange County School District's payment obligation under its Lease-Purchase Agreement. No voter approval referendum is required of the subject lease revenue bond proposal, and the validation of these bonds by the Trial Court should be affirmed because the only obligation issued by the School District of Orange County is the Lease Agreement, and this Lease Agreement creates an annual lease, subject to appropriation.

Annual Lease.

The School District's obligations under the Lease Agreement are created, if agreed to be created at all, at the commencement of each fiscal year through appropriation by the School Board of funds to pay rent for such fiscal year period. The obligations in this case do not mature more than twelve months after issuance since the Lease Agreement terminates at the end of the fiscal year unless renewed by the School District through subsequent appropriation. Further, the obligations are not payable from the compelled levy of ad valorem taxes.

Whatever economic risk exists is on the lessor, in this case the Florida School Boards Association, Inc., and not on the taxpayers. The Lease Agreement is subject to the annual scrutiny of the budget process and is terminated unless the School Board affirmatively chooses to renew it for another year. Public hearings are held **as** a normal

part of the budgetary process of the School Board and the public is invited to all sessions of the budget process to give input.

No Pledge of Revenues to Bond Repayment.

In order for the State to prevail on its argument that the lease revenue bonds are invalid because no referendum was held, it must have demonstrated that ad valorem tax revenues are pledged to the repayment of the bonds and that such revenues are pledged for more than twelve months. This Court has expressly held that under Article VII, section 12, Florida Constitution, ad valorem taxes are not pledged for the repayment of a debt unless the bondholders can compel the use of such funds. State v. Miami Beach Redevelopment Agency, 392 So.2d 875, 898 (Fla. 1980). Under the present lease revenue bonds, the Bondholders do not have that right. Although ad valorem monies may be appropriated in any given year to make payments under the Lease-Purchase Agreement, no Bondholder can compel their use. The School District of Orange County has therefore preserved its annual budgetary discretion.

Right of School Board to Choose Not to Renew.

The State presently posits that the School District's assertion that the Lease Agreement only involves a one year commitment is unrealistic. In light of the record before this Court, the State's contention is unsupportable. Its further argument that the School District's option to terminate is "illusory" is likewise unfounded in light of the record. The record evidences that should the School District decide not to renew the Lease Agreement at the end of any given year, the very same funds available for payment of the lease rental amounts may be used for other purposes, including the acquisition or construction of other educational facilities. Furthermore, the Bondholders are required to pay the School District any excess monies they receive from subletting the

facilities which exceed the cost of servicing the bonds. The State offered no witness to support its position. All witnesses testifying on behalf of the School District of Orange County were in agreement on the nature of the Lease-Purchase Agreement and the obligations or lack of obligations which were imposed by the Lease-Purchase Agreement.

Master Lease.

Contrary to the State's assertion, the Lease Agreement is not changed from an annual lease into a full-payout lease because it covers more than one building. It is not uncommon for lease-purchase agreements to cover more than one building, and, in fact, this Court has previously approved the use of a master lease-purchase agreement with multiple buildings. There is no record support for the State's suggestion that this arrangement creates a compulsion to appropriate.

Mortgage by Florida School Boards Association, Inc.

The State's further argument that, because the Florida School Boards Association, Inc., Lessor, intends to mortgage its leasehold interests in the educational facilities as security for the bonds, an election is required is likewise without merit. Nohrr v. Brevard County Educational Facilities Authority, 247 So.2d 304 (Fla. 1971), upon which the State primarily relies for its position in this regard, has been specifically receded from by this Court. The School District will not be mortgaging its property. The Lease-Purchase Agreement does not constitute a mortgage. The record clearly shows that no mortgage will be created on the property of the School District and that no foreclosure remedy is available against any School District property. In Uvesco. Inc. v. Petersen, 295 So.2d 353 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974), the District Court explicitly held that the underlying lease agreement could be treated as a lease with landlord remedies only even though there was an outstanding sum of money which the lease secured. Specifically, this Court

in State v. Brevard County, 539 So.2d 461 (Fla. 1989) distinguished an annual lease with a declining price purchase option from a security agreement. That distinction applied to this case is consistent with substantive law concerning real property and results in the conclusion that the Lease Agreement does not constitute a mortgage. Furthermore, the School District has been provided the protections required by Brevard County as the School District's rights are explicitly made superior to any right or interest of the Association or any mortgagee of the Association. The Association's encumbrance of its leasehold interest has not encroached in any way upon the constitutionally protected property interests of the School District, as Lessee.

The Trial Court properly held no referendum approval was necessary **as** a predicate to validation because the Lease Agreement is an annual lease, because there is no prohibited mortgage of public property, because there is no coercion to renew the lease, because the obligation of the School Board can therefore never mature more than twelve months after it is created, and because bondholders cannot compel use of ad valorem taxes to make payments under the Lease-Purchase Agreement.

The Judgment of Validation should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

VALIDATION OF THE NOT TO EXCEED \$230,000,000 LEASE REVENUE BONDS WITHOUT AN APPROVING REFERENDUM DOES NOT VIOLATE ARTICLE VII, SECTION 12, FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, AND THE TRIAL COURT'S FINAL JUDGMENT OF VALIDATION SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

The State incorrectly contends that the present lease revenue bonds should not be validated without an approving referendum by the voters of Orange County and cites to Article VII, Section 12, Florida Constitution, as authority. After having considered the Answer of the State Attorney to the Complaint for Validation and, the testimony at hearing, as well as the exhibits describing the transactions, the Trial Court correctly concluded that under these circumstances there was no need for a referendum. In rejecting the State Attorney's argument that a referendum was required, the Trial Court announced that it was influenced by the Legislature's actions to provide capital financing through the use of Capital Outlay millage revenues, the fact that the risk of nonappropriation has been assumed by the Bond Insurer and by an unaffiliated non-profit entity, and by the fact that the School District of Orange County can elect not to appropriate in any given year and could substitute property for or delete the Project property from the School District's assets in conjunction with such non-appropriation. Among other things, completely supported by the uncontroverted record, the Trial Court found that the Lease Agreement may be terminated annually at the discretion of the School Board, and that in the event of termination or the election not to appropriate, all of the obligations of the School District will terminate without further liability to any entity and the Lease Agreement will expire.

Pursuant to Section 235.056(3), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988), as amended by Ch. 89-226, section 4, and Ch. 89-278, section 14, Laws of Florida (1989), School Boards

in this state are authorized to lease or lease-purchase educational facilities and sites as defined in section 235.011, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988), amended by Ch. 89-226, section 1 and Ch. 89-278, section 11, Laws of Florida (1989), from a non-profit educational organization and are further authorized to make the rent payments under such lease or lease-purchase agreements from certain non-ad valorem revenues and from not more than one-half of the local Capital Outlay millage which may be imposed pursuant to section 236.25(2)(e), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988), amended by Ch. 89-244, section 1, Laws of Florida (1989). Section 235.056(3)(a), Florida Statutes, amended by Ch. 89-226, section 4, Laws of Florida (1989), expressly permits the use of nominal lessors and in relevant part provides:

A district school board, by itself, or through a direct-support organization formed pursuant to s. 237.40 or nonprofit educational organization or a consortium of district school boards, may, in developing a lease-purchase of educational facilities and sites provide for separately advertising for and receiving competitive bids or proposals on the construction of facilities and the selection of financing to provide the lowest cost funding available, so long **as** the board determines that such process would best serve the public interest.

In this case the Florida School Boards Association, Inc., a non-profit educational organization that has continuous independent corporate existence, serves as the nominal lessor and will issue its own corporate debt to fund the leases and finance the facilities. The interest on such debt is exempt from federal income taxes because the bonds are being issued for the benefit of a unit of government and the accrual of equity in the project accrues to the benefit of the governmental unit as the debt is amortized. Revenue Ruling 63-20 and Revenue Procedure 82-26.

The Lease-Purchase Agreement involved in the present case is an <u>annual</u> lease subject to termination at the option of the Lessee, the Orange County School District,

The Lease Agreement provides that the lease term will be on an annual basis. terminated at the end of the current fiscal year unless the legislative body of the lessee appropriates for the next fiscal year a sufficient amount to make the rent payments under the Lease Agreement. The obligation by contract of the Orange County School District created by the lease only exists, if at all, for the current fiscal year and will never be an obligation of more than twelve months. In fact, Florida law requires that the School Board's lease-purchase agreements be annual subject to annual appropriation. Section 235.056(3)(b)2, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988), provides that "[t]he initial term or any renewal term of any lease-purchase agreement shall expire on June 30 of each fiscal year, but may be automatically renewed annually, subject to a board making sufficient annual appropriations therefor." (Emphasis supplied). The present Lease-Purchase Agreement is not a full-payout lease (by statute it cannot be) and is not secured by a pledge of the full faith and credit or taxing power of the School Board nor can it be in light of section 235.056(3)(b)3, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988) which specifically provides that "[n]o lease-purchase agreement entered into pursuant to this subsection shall constitute a debt, liability, or obligation of the state or a local school board or shall be a pledge of the faith and credit of the state or a local school board."

The subject Lease-Purchase Agreement does not contain a covenant to budget or appropriate. Merely to avoid unintended non-appropriation, the annual Lease Agreement contains a covenant under the section entitled "Availability of Funds" that the School Board's Financial Officer will request an appropriation through the proposed budget process. (App.3, p.17). The School Board, however, as the legislative body of the Lessee, the School District of Orange County, possesses absolute discretion to appropriate or not to appropriate these funds. Significant to the real ability of the

School Board to choose not to renew the Lease Agreement is the fact that the Lease-Purchase Agreement does not contain a non-substitution covenant. By statute, section 235.056(3)(b)2, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988), prohibits non-substitution clauses and expressly states that "[u]nder no circumstances shall the failure of a board to renew a lease-purchase agreement constitute a default or require payment of any penalty, nor in any way limit the right of a board to purchase or utilize educational facilities and sites similar in function to the educational facilities and sites which are the subject of the said lease-purchase agreement." The record herein demonstrates that the School District can terminate the Lease Agreement at the end of any fiscal year and use the very same monies that were identified in prior year's budgets for rent payments to acquire or lease substitute facilities or for any other lawful purpose. Where as here the Lease Agreement is an annual lease subject to annual appropriation, the School Board of Orange County has merely entered into an annual agreement to pay rent for property that is owned by the nominal lessor, Florida School Boards Association, Inc.

Should the underlying Lease Agreement be terminated due to non-appropriation, the bonds would continue to be outstanding as separate obligations of the Lessor, in the instant case FSBA, and would continue to be secured by rent payments received by the nominal Lessor from reletting the Project or the proceeds of liquidation of the Project. Most important to this case is an understanding that the lease revenue bonds to be issued are being issued by the Lessor, FSBA, and continue to be the obligations of the FSBA, and are not being issued as obligations of the Orange County School Board. The Bonds to be issued are not and cannot be treated as the bonds of the School Board of Orange County. The debt obligation is solely the obligation of FSBA.

A. A Referendum is not required by Article VII, section 12, Florida Constitution for validation of these bonds where these bonds are not secured by a pledge of ad valorem revenues.

The State erroneously contends that because ad valorem taxes may be used to pay rent under the Lease Agreement to the FSBA, ad valorem taxes will be pledged as security for the FSBA's obligations under the bonds, and therefore a referendum is required by Article VII, section 12 which provides:

<u>Local bonds</u>. Counties, school districts, municipalities, special districts and local governmental bodies with taxing powers may issue bonds, certificates of indebtedness or any form of tax anticipation certificates, payable from ad valorem taxation and maturing more than twelve months after issuance only:

(a) to finance or refinance capital projects authorized by law and only when approved by vote of the electors who are owners of freehold therein not wholly exempt from taxation. ...

The State is effectually urging an interpretation of the phrase "payable from ad valorem taxation" to mean "capable of being paid from ad valorem taxation." This interpretation has been consistently rejected by this Court. Rather this Court has interpreted the clause "payable from ad valorem taxation" to mean a "pledge" of ad valorem taxes under a contractual obligation which gives a right to an outside party to compel the levy of ad valorem taxes. This Court in State v. Miami Beach Redevelopment Agency, 392 So.2d 875 (Fla. 1980), addressed the issue of what is meant by the clause "payable from ad valorem taxation" in the context of the state's argument that the Miami Beach redevelopment bonds violated Article VII, section 12, for lack of a referendum because those bonds were "payable from ad valorem taxation." Id, at 893. The redevelopment bonds were secured by the rents paid for use of the redeveloped property and from ad valorem monies paid to the redevelopment agency from local taxing authorities. Just as is the

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